Page 1 of 20



STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV APPEALS CASE NO.2017-AP-1906-CR

MAR 1 4 2019

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Vs.

MICHAEL A. NIEMAN,

Defendant-Appellant,

ON APPEAL OF DECISION AND ORDER ENTERED ON 4/3/2017 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF CLARK COUNTY WISCONSIN HONORABLE JON M. COUNSELL PERSIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Michael A. Nieman DOC No. 378700 Oakhill Correctional Institution P.O. Box 938

Page 2 of 20

INTRODUCTION

Michael A. Nieman, who for further reference shall be referred to as "Nieman", appeals Clark County case No. 2015-CF-93. This case went to post-conviction proceedings in the form a 974.06 motion to modify sentence on 04/03/17 and was denied the removal of restitution and reduction of probation term of one year.

The criminal complaint arises from a defunct agreement which Nieman entered into with Haas Transport, Inc. between May 14th, 2014, and May 19th of 2014. This agreement was for the disposal of large pieces of scrap iron which are used in rock crushers and has a mineral which is known as Manganese within it. A substance which once is introduced to steel makes it extremely unique and hard. Manganese can only be diluted and not abstracted from steel once introduced, therefore it limits its sale ability immensely.

Nieman fully believes that had he been present at the civil hearings which were used as a basis as the criminal complaint, Nieman would not have been held liable criminally. Nieman contends that he certainly was not living at 2203A Dixon Street in Stevens Point, WI where there was an enormous amount of attempts made to contact him regarding both his criminal matter and his civil matter and none at his actual residence.

Aside from the fact that Nieman had already been held liable in the form of a civil judgment, he was also sentenced under a false criminal record due to exculpatory evidence being withheld *(Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, [Headnote 1 PG. 86, 87, Headnote 2 PG. 87, 88)* in a separate legal proceeding in which was taking place prior to this criminal complaint even being filed. This false criminal record carried over to Clark County and was used in the determination

Page 7 of 20

of sentencing. The only thing the District Court had to use for sentencing was Nieman's criminal record as there was not a PSI done in this case. Nieman contends that his probation was wrongfully revoked and that the matter is in and has been in overlooked "Plain Error" (U.S. v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 732) (U.S. v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 15, 84 L. Ed. 2d 1, 105 S. Ct. 1038).

Nieman feels sincerely that he would have been able to avoid criminal prosecution for these matters had he not acquired a DUI in Wood County. What plays a role in the background of those matters is that a report was made to the Wood County Sheriff's Department in regards to this matter just prior to Nieman's DUI, and Nieman was never notified by the department or by his probation agent. Please see Appendix exhibit labeled "Wood County Police Report".

The motion for which Nieman was contemplating was supposed to be a sealed postconviction motion between Wood and Clark Counties. Nieman was indeed providing substantial assistance to the Plymouth, WI Police Department, as well as a leading investigator with The Department of Criminal Investigations Fire Marshalls Office, in regards to large scale arson cases within the State of Wisconsin prior to his conviction in Clark county case No. 2015-CF-93. This was not investigated properly by Defense or Appellate counsel to determine its legitimacy; therefore proper motions were not filed on Nieman's behalf in Clark or Wood Counties. Nieman's claim can be validated in Appendix entry labeled "03/23/17 Assistance Claim Transcript" which took place within his Wood County Motion hearing.

Discretion was not used when determining Nieman's ability to pay restitution versus the condition of his health. This can certainly be viewed in medical reports produced within the Appendix. (Please see Appendix entry labeled "Medical Reports")

Page 8 of 20

It is for these reasons and that Nieman asks that The Court grant his motion for sentence modification for a reduction of probation by one year for Nieman's substantial assistance and for the elimination of restitution for proper exercise of discretion concerning Nieman's ability to pay restitution and for the fact that Nieman has a civil judgment on the matter owed to Haas Corporation which is well over what the actual value of the material taken from Haas.

Nieman agrees that he owes Haas and is willing to make payment against the civil judgment as was the agreement which he entered into. Nieman also filed a motion for postconviction contesting the sufficiency of evidence although whether or not Nieman was adequately represented at any phase in these proceedings is certainly the question. Nieman requests that this appeal be presented under seal.

4

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On 02/22/2016, Nieman was convicted of two counts of Theft-False Representation, in violation of 943.20(1)(d), both misdemeanor class A crimes (**R**; 13). These convictions were the result of a complaint that was filed (**R**. 1) on 08/03/15 while Nieman had been incarcerated for a DUI which took place in Wood County (Wood County case No. 2015-CF-176) also leading to the revocation of his probation (Wood County case No. 2007-CF-511). Nieman had been incarcerated for a complaint being filed in Clark County.

The complaint arises from a defunct agreement which Nieman entered into with Haas Transport, Inc. between May 14th, 2014, and May 19th of 2014. This agreement was for the disposal of large pieces of scrap iron which are used in rock crushers and has a mineral which is known as Manganese within it. A substance which once is introduced to steel makes it hard.

In civil proceedings for which Nieman was not present, and for which the basis of the criminal proceedings are founded, and are not found within the record, it was determined that Nieman was not representing "Demolitions Plus" (his father's company) between 05/14/14 and 05/19/14 although Nieman had worked for and represented "Demolitions Plus" in numerous capacities for a couple decades in the past.

Nieman contends that the trucking and loading for which he paid for in full was to be offset on the value of said Manganese Steel. Nieman did indeed pay for said trucking and

5

loading in full in the rough amount of \$7,200.00 USD. Nieman's contentions were not heard and therefore do not appear within the record.

There was a police report made to Wood County Police Department on 05/05/14 by Haas Transport which was not followed up on and Nieman was not contacted. This as well does not appear in the record but was printed out for the Court. Please see Appendix labeled "Wood County Police Report".

Nieman was then involved in a single vehicle, single occupant rollover in which case he was the driver and suffered severe injuries and was charged with a DUI as a result. This took place on 05/18/15. Nieman has been incarcerated ever since.

Nieman pleaded guilty to both of the charges (**R. 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13,**) pursuant to a plea agreement which did not contain the restitution. The Honorable Judge Jon Counsel used his discretion when applying restitution.

Nieman then filed for post-conviction relief (**R. 14**) and was appointed Megan Sanders Drazen to represent him on his appellate issues. Nieman's motion for post –conviction was filed on 01/24/17 (**R. 26**) and the order denying the removal of restitution was entered on the same day of the evidentiary hearing (**R. 31**).

Nieman appeals both the denial of the removal of restitution as well as the removal of 1 year of his probation due to his substantial assistance claim which is valid and should have been presented to the court by his Defense and Appellate counsel. No evidentiary hearing was made on the merits of that claim.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts to this case are quite simple. Nieman admits that he owes Haas Transport and is willing to pay and that fact has always remained (**R. 11, 12, 13**). Nieman and Haas entered a business venture which was for the removal of large pieces of scrap called Manganese steel. This took place over the period of a week and the hauling for which happened between 05/14/14, and 05/19/14. Nieman agreed to pay Philip Haas the price of the material, less the loading and hauling, as Nieman was required to do all of his own loading. Nieman never contested the civil matters. Philip Haas was minus workers due to a fatal accident the week of the operation, requiring Nieman to have extra workers.

Nieman was injured in the form of a broken L3 and L4 vertebrae of his back resulting from a fall which he took from a piece of equipment in 2014. This greatly affected the operations of not only Nieman's business which he had just begun to run, but also his everyday life.

Nieman was not living at the address where he was attempted to be contacted at by officials and therefore proper contact was not made when he was attempted to be contacted for either the civil matter which Nieman contends was the most significant factor in the determination of his criminal proceedings as he was essentially blind-sided by the events once incarcerated for a DUI (**R. 1, 2, 7, 9**). It is Nieman's belief that once he was incarcerated there was a change in the demeanor of the parties involved.

The amount claimed to be owed is ridiculously over exaggerated due to the lack of offset which was supposed to have taken place for the amount paid by Nieman for trucking. This was

7

never contested due Nieman's lack of information provided to him, and his inability to be present at the civil proceedings (SEE ADDRESS INFO R.1, 2, 7, and 9).

Nieman had the full understanding that throughout all the delays his appellate counsel took in presenting his post-conviction motion that he would have a jointly sealed motion due in large part to his substantial assistance claim which never was presented at all to the Circuit Court.

It is Nieman's FULL INTENT to rectify the matter properly with Haas monetarily through a civil process as it was initially sought out to be and not held in a criminal manner one and a half years after a civil judgment had been entered.

Further attention should be made and a strong look made into the Appellate counsel's motion to withdraw (**R. 34**), please see also Appendix exhibit labeled "Withdrawal Motion", as there was never a hearing to determine whether or not Megan sanders Drazen had addressed all the issues within Nieman's appeal Nieman asserts that there was. Nieman makes reference to letters which were sent to and from Appellate counsel regarding the issues for post-conviction as the basis for the extensions that were given to Nieman's filing (**R. 18, 20, 22, 24, 27, 29, and 32**). Copies of the letters mentioned are located within the appendix along with proof of Nieman's SERIOUS medical conditions.

ARGUMENTS

Brady Violation/Exculpatory Evidence

Nieman's first and foremast assertion is that the probation for which he had revoked simultaneously to the prosecution of this matter (Wood County case No. 2007-CF-511), was expired and that the plea agreement for which he entered into for that matter was withheld from the court upon his sentencing. This would have indeed made Nieman eligible for release (*Wis. Stat. § 969.01*) prior to the criminal complaint being filed in this matter (*Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, [Headnote 1 PG. 86, 87, Headnote 2 PG. 87, 88) (U.S. v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 732)* (*U.S. v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 15, 84 L. Ed. 2d 1, 105 S. Ct. 1038*). See Appendix exhibit labeled "Plea and Consolidation Agreement"

Nieman's plea agreement was that he was to receive "Full Credit Towards Time Served as a Condition of Probation" (State v. Naydihor, 2004 WI 43, PG. 11, 270 Wis. 2d 585, 678 N.W. 2d 220) (State v. Gray, 225 Wis. 2d 39 [Headnote 7, PG. 53-61]) (State v. Pierce, 117 Wis. 2d 83, [Emphasis on Headnote 7]) (State v. Dean, 111 Wis. 2d 361 [Headnotes 1-8]) (Morrissey v, Brewer, 408 U.S. 471).

Next looking at the **ORIGINAL** Oral Pronouncement of Judgment, Nieman was awarded time served on his six month sentence at the day of sentencing or when "Oral

Filed 01-15-2020

Pronouncement of Judgment" took place, 04/11/13 (*State v. Perry, 136 Wis. 2d 92*). Nieman then finished off the remainder of his one year sentence of his <u>CODITIONAL JAIL TIME</u>. Nieman served these jail terms consecutively, and was released from jail on 06/06/2013 with time served on ALL of his conditional jail time. This had completed eighteen (18) months of Nieman's probation (*Wis. Stat. § 973.09 (4) (a)*) (*State v. Perry, 136 Wis. 2d 92*). Nieman's plea agreement was a result of substantial assistance that he provided for years and it was within the courts discretion to credit him for confinement both in and out of state as well for AODA treatment he received.

Although, with or without good time, with or without the full 6 months being credited, Nieman should have been discharged from probation well before the incident which resulted in case No. 2015-CF-93 took place, or at least before court proceedings began, all credit was for time served as a condition of a term of probation (*State v. Pierce, 117 Wis. 2d 83, [Emphasis on Headnote 7])(State v. Dean, 111 Wis. 2d 361 [Headnotes 1-8]) (State v. Johnson, 2005 WI App* 202) (*State v. Gruetzmacher, 2004 WI 55) (State v. Gray, 225 Wis. 2d 39 [Headnote 7 PG. 53-61]) (State v. Fearing, 2000 WI App 229; 239 Wis. 2d 105).* Again Nieman relies heavily on the Court of Appeals to review this agreement for accuracy and understanding. If Nieman's credit were to be listed as "PRE-Sentence" credit then Nieman's probation should be just that, his only sentence (Bartone v. United States, 375 U.S. 52) (Morrissey v, Brewer, 408 U.S. 471) (State v. Perry, 136 Wis. 2d 92).

There was never an extension filed to extend Nieman's probation nor was there a valid reason to do so, (*State v. Olson, 222 Wis. 2d 283*) (*Huggett v. State, 83 Wis. 2d 790 [Headnote 11]*) (*State v. Lohmeier, 2000 Wisc, App.*) In either event, Nieman should have indeed been

eligible for release (R. 5) (*Wis. Stat. § 969.01*). The Circuit Court (Honorable Judge Brazeau) has directed these issues to the Court of Appeals for review.

Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

Without question for Appellate Counsel to not raise the issue of Nieman's serious health issues as a factor to reduce the amount of restitution shows blatant unpreparedness and neglect. Nieman suffers and had been suffering from chronic fractures to his L3 and L4 vertebrae, severe spinal stenosis throughout his lower back partnered with crushed disks, encroachment upon the spinal cord in his neck coupled with severe spurring and stenosis in his neck as well. These injuries were made known to Megan Sanders Drazen and she was aware that Nieman was undergoing serious medical procedures. At the evidentiary hearing on 04/03/17, attorney Megan Drazen Sanders did not mention any factor when asked by the Court why restitution should not be ordered other than to make the claim of Nieman's indigence.

To add into the matter, she never investigated properly into Nieman's claim of substantial assistance to law enforcement which weighs greatly towards the ineffective assistance claim *(U.S. v. Witherspoon, 231 F.3d 923 [Headnote 4, 5, 6,]) (USCS Const. Amend. 6) (Patrasso v. Nelson, 121 F. 3d 297) (State v. Jorgensen, 2008 WI 60).* For a great deal of time she led Nieman to believe that she was going to be filing a joint "sealed" motion with Nieman's appellate counsel from his Wood County matter.

Defense and Appellate counsel also failed to investigate Nieman's criminal record prior to his sentencing and evidentiary hearing *(Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668)*. Nieman did not have a PSI ordered in this case therefore a large part of the Courts discretion was placed on

the findings in Nieman's past criminal record. Nieman wasn't afforded the right to be heard with regards to withdraw of appellate counsel was allowed, as there was still appealable issues which should have been brought before the Circuit Court (*State v. Batista, 171 Wis. 2d 690*) (*State v. Batista, 1992 Wisc. App.*) (*State v. Macemon, 113 Wis. 2d 662, 668, 335 N.W.2d 402 [1983]*). Plainly put Nieman had a case that was in "Plain Error" due to Nieman being sentenced on a <u>COMPLETELY DISMISSED</u> case in Wood County, (*U.S. v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 732*) (*U.S. v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 15, 84 L. Ed. 2d 1, 105 S. Ct. 1038*) (*Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674[1984]*) (*State v. Jorgensen, 2008 WI 60*) and this error should have been recognized at a reasonable time by the Appellate counsel. Please see Appendix entry labeled "Plea Agreement". Using these factors in the determinations of whether or not Nieman was to obtain health care along with serious consecutive credit issues, make his revocation of his 2007-CF-511 case a relevant factor (*State v. Norton, 2001 Wi App 245*).

Overlooked Serious Medical Conditions

At the time Nieman was charged he was incarcerated for DUI after a single vehicle, single occupant rollover crash, for which he sustained numerous life threatening and permanent injuries. These injuries were overlooked by The Clark County Court *(Estelle v. Gamble, 429 U.S. 97) (Farmer v. Brennan, 511 U.S. 825) (Greeno v. Daley, 414 F.3d 645) (State v. Thiel,*

2003 WI 111 [Headnote 11, 13]), and never argued by the Defense or Appellate counsel Courts (Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674[1984]) (R. 10).

He had been suffering from broken vertebrae within his back and as a result from his accident now suffers from chronic fractures of his L3 and L4 vertebrae, severe spinal stenosis throughout his lower back partnered with crushed disks, encroachment upon the spinal cord in his neck coupled with severe spurring and stenosis in his neck as well. Shared with this are tares to his ligamentum flavum and severe headaches from the neck injuries.

Nieman also suffered severe injuries to his elbow for which required surgical debreament and severe injuries to his head. Hematomas on his lungs, possible broken pelvic, and several small lacerations. Nieman was thrown from the vehicle at 65 miles per hour. All of these injuries were present throughout Nieman's court proceedings. This most definitely plays a large role in Nieman's ability to pay the entire amount of restitution and should have been raised by Defense and Appellate counsel although they were unknowingly overlooked by all parties *(State v. Harbor, 2011 WI 28) (Rosado v. State, 70 Wis. 2d 280).*

<u>Plea Agreements</u>

It was not listed in Nieman's plea agreement that he be ordered to pay restitution (Puckett v. United States, 556 U.S. 129) (State v. Handley, 173 Wis. 2d 838) (Santobello v. New

13

York, 404 U.S. 257) (**R**. 11), in fact it was determined that Nieman was to make payments against a civil judgment which was ordered in case No.2014-CV-142 Clark County.

No payments were ever made from Demolitions Plus to Haas in the matter so the actual victim in the case suffered no material losses and the victim in the civil matter will receive monetary damages in, and through routes were established prior to the implication of criminal proceedings.

Although it may not be unauthorized for the court to order the payment of restitution it certainly comes to "Shock the Conscious" of a large majority of the scrap iron world that in essence these pieces of steel that are manufactured at an increased level of hardness and immense size for the work they do. And which require loading of substantial size and cost, would in essence be worth over \$25,000.00 in restitution and civil judgment combined. It's impractical (**R. 13**) (*Mcleary v. State, 49 Wis. 2d 263*) (*State v. Handley, 173 Wis. 2d 838*), Nieman makes reference to the Appendix listed as 04/03/17 "Motion Transcript", with regards to the Courts and Megan Sanders Drazen's references to the restitution.

Page 19 of 20

Substantial Assistance

Nieman did indeed provide substantial assistance to authorities prior to and throughout his incarceration. This would include times prior to, during, and after the court proceedings in State v. Nieman 2015-CF-93 Clark County (*State v. Boyden 2012 WI App 38, PG. 5, 340 Wis.* 2d 155, 814 N.w.2d 505) (*State v. Doe, 2005 WI App 68*).

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