#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

## RECEIVED 07-24-2019

### COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### **DISTRICT IV**

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Case No. 2017AP1906-CR

Michael A. Nieman,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JON M. COUNSELL PRESIDING

### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

Kerra Stumbris District Attorney State Bar No. 1095694

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

Clark County District Attorney's Office 517 Court Street, Room 404 Neillsville, Wisconsin 54456 (715)743-5167

###

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

### **ARGUMENT**

# I. NIEMAN IS NOT ENTITLED TO MODIFICATION OF THE RESTITUTION AWARD OR THE PROBATION TERM ORDERED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT.

A. The circuit court's restitution order was lawful.

Restitution orders in criminal cases are governed by Wis. Stat. § 973.20. When placing a defendant on probation, a sentencing court "shall order the defendant to make full or partial restitution under this section to any victim of a crime considered at sentencing... unless the court finds substantial reason not to do so and states the reason on the record." Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r) (emphasis added). See also Wis. Stat. § 973.09(1)(b). The word "shall" imposes a mandatory duty on the sentencing court, and sentences that fail to include a restitution order are considered illegal and incomplete. State v. Borst, 181 Wis. 2d 118, 122, 510 N.W.2d 739 (Ct. App. 1993).

The court is required to consider a number of factors when determining whether to order restitution and in what amount. Those factors include the amount of loss suffered by the victim, the financial resources of the defendant and his or her ability to pay, and other factors deemed appropriate by the court. See Wis. Stat. § 973.20(13)(a). At sentencing, the defendant can stipulate to restitution or "present evidence and argument" on the relevant factors. Wis. Stat. § 973.20(13)(c). Within the statutory parameters and relevant factors, the ultimate determination of the amount of restitution owed rests in the discretion of the trial court. State v. Boffer, 158 Wis. 2d 655, 462 N.W.2d 906 (Ct. App. 1990); State v. Anderson, 215 Wis. 2d 667, 573 N.W.2d 872 (Ct. App. 1997). Where a defendant is fully aware of the amount of restitution and makes no effort to contest it, such failure to contest constitutes a "constructive" stipulation to the restitution award. State v.

Hopkins, 196 Wis. 2d 36, 42-43, 538 N.W.2d 543 (Ct. App. 1995). Further, a defendant's failure to present evidence on his financial resources and ability to pay, when given the chance to do so, bars a challenge to the court's failure to address such factors. *State v. Dugan*, 193 Wis. 2d 610, 624–25, 534 N.W.2d 897 (Ct. App. 1995); *State v. Boffer*, 158 Wis. 2d 655, 663, 462 N.W.2d 906 (Ct. App. 1990).

Wis. Stat. § 973.20(8) indicates that crime victims are not limited to a restitution order and may also collect damages in a civil action against the defendant under the same set of facts. Under that scenario, restitution payments are to be set off against the civil judgment, the validity of which must be asserted by the defendant in a hearing in the civil action. *Id.* A civil settlement agreement can have no effect upon a criminal restitution order while the defendant remains on probation unless the circuit court finds that enforcement of the restitution order would result in double recovery for the victim. *Huml v. Vlazny*, 2006 WI 87, ¶ 50, 56, 293 Wis. 2d 169, 716 N.W.2d 807. The burden of demonstrating applicable setoff to restitution rests with the defendant. *State v. Walters*, 224 Wis. 2d 897, 591 N.W.2d 874 (Ct. App. 1999); *State v. Behnke*, 203 Wis. 2d 43, 553 N.W.2d 265 (Ct. App. 1996).

Michael A. Nieman was charged on August 3, 2015 with felony theft by false representation and unauthorized use of an entity's identifying information or documents (R1). At a preliminary hearing on September 11, 2015, Clark County Sheriff's Detective Jason Bourget testified that he received a letter from Phillip Haas of Haas Sons, Inc. complaining of issues related to a contract between the company and Nieman (R50 4:17-20). Through his investigation, Detective Bourget learned that Nieman had contacted Haas to place a bid for the removal of manganese (R50 5:14-17). Nieman had represented that he worked for Demolitions Plus and had submitted his bid on the company's letterhead (R50 5:20-6:3). Detective Bourget testified that Dan Nieman, the owner of Demolitions Plus, said the last time Nieman worked for him was 2007 and that Nieman did not have permission to submit bids for the company (R50 6:20-7:6). Ultimately, Nieman hauled the manganese per the agreement with Haas, but Haas never received payment from Nieman (R50 6:4-10, 8:3-6).

On February 22, 2016, Nieman entered guilty pleas to two amended counts of misdemeanor theft (R54 13:25-14:7). The joint sentencing recommendation from the parties involved the court withholding sentence and placing Nieman on probation for two years, with one condition being that he be ordered to make payments against a civil judgment ordered in Clark County Case 14CV142, a civil case stemming from Nieman's behavior in the present case (R54 2:12-25). Before the court would accept the plea agreement, the parties were asked to provide the legal authority for the court to order payments to the civil judgment rather than restitution, expressing its believe that Wis. Stat. § 973.20 required it to order restitution (R54 7:4-15). The State pointed to the civil judgment offset potential, but the court remained of the opinion that the statutes require restitution to be ordered, with the defendant required to assert the offset in the civil action (R54 Nieman made no objection to the restitution 8:12-9:10). amount requested, but wanted to confirm that he would not be paying twice (R54 10:8-15, 9:11-15), and the court again explained the offset (R54 9:20-10:7). The court then conducted its full plea colloquy after this exchange. The court further agreed to allow Nieman to request early termination of his probation term if he had satisfied the restitution requirement after one (1) year of being on probation (R54 27:2-4).

Nieman then filed a motion for postconviction relief (R26), and a hearing was held on April 3, 2017 on the issue of restitution. Appellate counsel claimed the court was not required to order restitution, so the circuit court reviewed the restitution order under the discretionary portion of Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r) instead (R55 3:5-15). The court reached the conclusion that the existing civil judgment did not create a substantial reason for the court to avoid the restitution order due to the more effective means of collection behind restitution through probation as opposed to a civil judgment (R55 3:16-4:23, 8:24-9:3, 9:12-14, 12:1-14).

Nieman now argues that this Court should remove the restitution award from his judgment of conviction and reduce his probation term to one (1) year based on the circuit condition that Nieman could apply for early discharge if the restitution was paid in full. Nieman's lack of an objection to the restitution order at the time of sentencing can be considered a stipulation to the amount of restitution under Wis. Stat. § 973.20(13)(c) and *Hopkins*. Nieman was told before he entered his guilty pleas that the court believed it was required to order restitution; he entered his pleas anyway. He has effectively waived the right to argue this issue in his appeal by failing to object to the original order. Further, Nieman admits repeatedly that he knows he owes the money and intends to repay it. He is still not contesting the fact that restitution is owed.

Instead, Nieman argues that the court's restitution order results in Nieman paying double what he should be, due to the existing civil judgment for the same offense. Nieman has been told by the circuit court and his attorney at sentencing that he would be able to offset the amounts (R54 9:20-10:17), and again by the court and appellate counsel at the hearing on his postconviction motion (R55 6:11-15, 10:22-11:25) Repeatedly raising the issue despite being informed of the law still does not make Nieman entitled to relief.

Additionally, Nieman contends that the court overlooked Nieman's medical condition in determining the amount of restitution. The court was informed at sentencing of the severity of Nieman's medical condition by trial counsel (R54 4:14-20). The court was also informed by trial counsel and by Nieman himself that Nieman has every intention of repaying what is owed (R54 4:9-13, 5:18-21, 20:23-21:8). When Nieman makes those representations to the court, it would be counterintuitive for the court to somehow find that Nieman does not have the financial resources or the future ability to pay or that his medical issue would bar him from be able to make the payments in the future.

The circuit court properly determined that Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r) required it to order restitution. The court properly

determined that no substantial reason exists not to order restitution. Further, Nieman has failed in this appeal to present evidence or explain how his situation makes it impossible for him to be able to pay in the future such that this court should remove the restitution order. Instead, Nieman has consistently admitted his intention to repay what is owed, making it clear that he believes he will have future ability to pay.

# B. Nieman has failed to establish that he is entitled to sentence modification.

A strong public policy exists against interfering with a sentencing court's discretion, with a presumption that the court acted reasonably. *State v. Perez*, 170 Wis.2d 130, 142, 487 N.W.2d 630 (Ct.App.1992). The defendant bears the burden of showing of an unreasonable or unjustified basis for the sentence. *Id*.

Wisconsin courts have inherent authority to modify criminal sentences. *State v. Hegwood*, 113 Wis.2d at 546, 335 N.W.2d 399. Sentence modification cannot be based solely on a court's later reflection or second thoughts. *State v. Wuensch*, 69 Wis.2d 467, 474, 480, 230 N.W.2d 665 (1975). A court can, however, modify a sentence based on the presentation of a "new factor." *Hegwood*, 113 Wis.2d at 546, 335 N.W.2d 399.

Deciding a motion for sentence modification based on a new factor involves a two-step inquiry. First, the defendant has the burden to demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence the existence of a new factor. *State v. Franklin*, 148 Wis.2d 1, 8–9, 434 N.W.2d 609 (1989). See also *State v. Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶ 36, 333 Wis.2d 53, 72. "Whether the fact or set of facts put forth by the defendant constitutes a "new factor" is a question of law." *Harbor*, at ¶ 36 (citing *Hegwood*, 113 Wis.2d at 547, 335 N.W.2d 399). *Rosado v. State*, 70 Wis.2d 280, 288, 234 N.W.2d 69 (1975) defines "new factor" as "a fact or set of facts highly relevant to the imposition of sentence, but not known to the trial judge at the time of original sentencing, either because it was not then in existence or because, even though it was then in existence, it was unknowingly overlooked by all of the parties."

A new factor does not automatically entitle the defendant to sentence modification. *Hegwood*, 113 Wis.2d at 546, 335 N.W.2d 399; *State v. Verstoppen*, 185 Wis.2d 728, 740–42, 519 N.W.2d 653 (Ct. App. 1994). Instead, the court must then decide whether the new factor justifies sentence modification. *Franklin*, 148 Wis.2d at 8, 434 N.W.2d 609. To prevail on a motion for sentence modification, the defendant must demonstrate both the existence of a new factor and that the new factor justifies modification of the sentence. *Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶ 38 (citing *State v. Crochiere*, 2004 WI 78, ¶ 24, 273 Wis.2d 57, 681 N.W.2d 524). Accordingly, if a court determines that the facts do not constitute a new factor as a matter of law, "it need go no further in its analysis" to decide the defendant's motion. *Crochiere*, at ¶ 24.

Nieman attempts to argue several new factors that would favor sentence modification but fails to fully develop that (1) they are proper new factors and (2) a new sentence is justified. Nieman's first argument discusses what he calls "exculpatory evidence" from a Wood County case, seemingly suggesting that the fact that an error in that case impacted the court's determination in the present case in the form of a false Even if a Wood County case had any criminal record. relevance, the circuit court made very limited reference to Nieman's criminal record, except for noting that Nieman had clearly been in prison (R54 22:21-24). Despite that, the court still agreed to place Nieman on probation. Further, Nieman's record and the supposed false criminal record he references has nothing to do with the court ordering restitution. This is not a relevant issue or a proper new factor, and even if it was, it does not justify removing the restitution requirement and subsequently reducing the circuit court's ordered probation term.

Nieman also attempts to argue that his medical issues were a factor that the court overlooked and were never argued by either trial or appellate counsel. First, as stated previously, trial counsel did mention the medical issues at sentencing. Since it was on record and the court was aware of it, appellate counsel did not need to repeat it. Second, Nieman has

consistently represented to the circuit court and in his appeal that he intends to repay Haas for the civil judgment and/or restitution amount. Even if the court overlooked his injuries and failed to consider them in the restitution order, Nieman's representations satisfied the court that Nieman would have the intention and ability to pay at a later time. Even if this was considered a new factor, it does not justify modifying Nieman's sentence.

Nieman next references a Wood County case and his providing of substantial assistance to authorities as a new factor for the court to consider. While providing assistance to law enforcement may be a proper new factor under certain circumstances, Nieman fails to fully articulate the substance of his assistance and its relevance to this matter, and provides no detail as to the timing of the assistance and whether any of it occurred prior to his sentencing on February 22, 2016. The only documentation provided include cooperation agreements with the Portage and Waupaca County Sheriff's Departments from 1994 and 1995. Even if Nieman's assistance to law enforcement was considered a new factor for the court to consider, Nieman has failed to establish that it would justify modification of the restitution order or probation term in his Clark County case.

Nieman has raised multiple issues that could be considered new factors under the law. However, he has failed to establish that they are, in fact, proper new factors under the facts of this case. Even if he had, none of them justify upsetting the circuit court's discretion and modifying the sentence.

II. COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS NOT DEFICIENT, SO AS TO PREJUDICE NIEMAN AND DENY HIM OF THE RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL GUARANTEED BY THE SIXTH AMENDMENT.

The United States Constitution preserves every individual's right to counsel in criminal proceedings. U.S. Const. amend. VI. The Supreme Court "has recognized that

'the right to counsel is the right to the effective assistance of counsel." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984) (citing *McMann v. Richardson*, 397 U.S. 759, 771 (1970). To succeed on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant is require to prove that (1) counsel's performance was deficient and (2) that deficiency prejudiced the defendant. *Id.* at 687. Nieman has failed to meet the requirements under either prong of this test.

The performance prong of the *Strickland* standard requires the defendant to show that counsel "made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." *Strickland*, at 687. This claim involves a showing that counsel's performance "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." *Id.* at 688. The prejudice prong requires a "reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Id.* at 694.

Nieman claims counsel was ineffective for failing to raise his health issues as a reason for reducing the restitution order. However, that issue was raised by trial counsel at sentencing, and the circuit court was aware of it when it ordered restitution. Additionally, Nieman entered a plea after knowing the circuit court intended to order restitution and after being told of his ability to offset the civil judgment with any restitution payments made. Further, while Nieman may have health issues, he has failed to establish that he would never be able to make restitution payments in the future, and has repeatedly expressed his intention of paying what is owed to the victim.

Nieman cites appellate counsel's failure to investigate his substantial assistance to law enforcement as further evidence that counsel was ineffective. He defeats his own argument with documents contained in his index: an email from appellate counsel shows this issue was researched and a transcript shows it was raised at a hearing before a separate court in another county. Nieman has failed to show the relevance of this assistance to the proceedings in the present case or how it would impact the sentence in Clark County.

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